

Call to action: improving the lives of people with hidradenitis suppurativa (HS)

February 2024

This report was developed as part of a project which is led by The Health Policy Partnership (HPP) with guidance from a multidisciplinary Steering Committee. HPP was commissioned by UCB, which initiated and is funding the project. UCB reviews all outputs, but editorial control lies with the members of the project's Steering Committee. Contributing experts are not paid for their time.



Funding disclaimer

This report was developed as part of a project led by The Health Policy Partnership (HPP) with guidance from a multidisciplinary Steering Committee. HPP was commissioned by UCB, which initiated and funded the project. UCB reviewed all outputs, but editorial control lay with the members of the project's Steering Committee. Contributing experts were not paid for their time.

About this report

Research, coordination and drafting were led by Chris Melson, Jody Tate, Oriana Carswell and Elena Conroy of HPP. HPP is grateful to the members of the project's Steering Committee who, as co-authors, closely guided the development of the document and volunteered their time to be interviewed and to review the report.



• Falk G. Bechara, International Center for Hidradenitis Suppurativa/Acne Inversa (ICH), Germany



 Silvia Lobo Benito, Spanish Hidradenitis Suppurativa Patient Association (Asociación de Enfermos de Hidrosadenitis, ASENDHI), Spain



• Marie-France Bru-Daprés, French Association for Hidradenitis Research (Association Française pour la Recherche sur l'Hidrosadénite, AFRH), France



• Angela Gibbons, patient representative, United Kingdom



• Susanne de Goeij, Hidradenitis Patient Association (Hidradenitis Patiënten Vereniging), the Netherlands



• Susan Poelman, Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundation, Canada



• Francesca Prignano, University of Florence, Italy





• Annette Rosenberg, HS International Sweden, Sweden



• Elia Rosi, University of Florence, Italy



• Chevonne Smellie, Hidradenitis and Me, Canada



• Bente Villumsen, Danish Hidradenitis Suppurativa Patients' Association (Patientforeningen HS Danmark), Denmark

We are grateful to the following people living with HS who were also interviewed for this work:

- Mona Ghassemi, Germany
- Yuki Kato, Japan

This international report was developed based on literature review and a limited set of interviews with people living with HS and healthcare professionals. The research focused largely on ten countries: Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom. Further insights were drawn from a limited literature review of 12 additional countries: Australia, Brazil, Greece, Israel, Mexico, Poland, Romania, Saudi Arabia, South Korea, Taiwan, Turkey and the United Arab Emirates.

We would also like to thank the following organisations for their endorsement:



CONTENTS

Foreword	5
Executive summary	6
What is hidradenitis suppurativa?	9
How does HS impact people's lives?	12
Pain has a major effect on people's lives	13
Mental health issues are common among people living with HS	13
Social life can be negatively affected by HS symptoms	14
People living with HS often experience challenges around intimacy	15
Working and studying can be difficult for people living with HS	16
Managing HS can result in personal financial costs	17
What does best-practice care for HS look like?	18
What are the policy and system barriers to best-practice care?	20
Embarrassment, stigma and fear can mean some people avoid seeking medical attention and their symptoms become worse	21
Low awareness among healthcare professionals is contributing to delays in diagnosis, during which time the condition can become more severe	23
People do not always have prompt and equitable access to the most appropriate treatment and so continue to suffer with their symptoms	25
Long-term use of antibiotics threatens their effectiveness by increasing the risk of resistance	27
Inadequate access to best-practice, multidisciplinary care is leading to poor management of HS	28
Government support for people living with HS who cannot work is largely insufficient, leaving some people in financial distress	30
Call to action and recommendations	31
Appendix. International comparison of key information related to HS	34
References	35

Foreword

Hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) is a condition few people have heard of, but it is not uncommon. In fact, this painful, inflammatory skin condition affects around 1 in 100 people across the world, yet awareness – even among healthcare professionals – is worryingly low. As a result, people living with HS wait an average of 10 years to receive an accurate diagnosis, during which they may face many years of worry, uncertainty and symptoms that can become even more severe.

The impact of HS on people's lives cannot be underestimated. It is a very complex condition that can be accompanied by intense pain, unpleasant smell and scarring. Many people living with HS face a significant impact on their ability to work, socialise, have relationships and even undertake day-to-day activities. They may also be affected by anxiety or depression. As such, it is essential that people living with HS can easily access comprehensive, multidisciplinary and tailored care, which can address both physical and mental symptoms. But for most people living with HS, this is not the reality, and many face unacceptable challenges and barriers in accessing the full range of care they need.

This international report has been developed in close consultation with people living with HS, with the aim of communicating the condition's extensive impact. It highlights the most important policy and system barriers that policymakers across the world must urgently address. We believe that, if implemented, the recommendations in this report will ultimately improve the lives of people living with HS.

We encourage all patient associations, clinical societies, policymakers and any other interested parties to use this report to advocate for change. By working together, we can ensure that everyone living with HS receives the care, treatment and support they need and that future generations of people with HS do not face the same challenges that are sadly so common today.

Please join us in sharing this report and using it to drive change.

The Project Steering Committee

Executive summary

Executive summary

Hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) is a chronic skin condition that can be extremely painful. Affecting around 1 in 100 people,¹ HS is an inflammatory condition characterised by recurrent flare-ups of painful nodules, which can become abscesses that look like lumps or boils,^{2 3} and the formation of draining tunnels under the skin.⁴ These abscesses may rupture, resulting in a discharge that can have an unpleasant smell and stain clothing, and can cause scarring on the body.^{5 6} HS affects three times as many women as men in Western countries, but this trend is reversed in East Asia, where prevalence is over twice as high among men as among women.⁷⁻¹¹

HS can have a significant and detrimental impact on people's lives. Pain is a major and debilitating symptom experienced by almost all people living with HS.¹² HS symptoms can affect people's ability to carry out daily activities such as going to work.^{13 14} In addition, scarring and the unpleasant smell can make people feel embarrassed and self-conscious, leading to issues related to social life and personal relationships.¹⁵ People may also face financial costs associated with managing the condition.¹⁶ The sprawling impact on every aspect of people's lives contributes to the condition being highly distressing and affecting mental wellbeing.¹⁷

Management of HS can be complex, requiring a combination of treatments and specialists. People living with HS can have a range of needs that may require care from an array of healthcare professionals including dermatologists, surgeons, mental health professionals, wound care nurses^{18 19} and pain management specialists.²⁰ Effective treatment options are currently limited⁷ and will often involve a combination of medical and surgical interventions.²¹

A number of policy and system barriers are preventing people from accessing the best possible care. Awareness of HS is low among both healthcare professionals and the general population, leading to an average delay of 10 years before someone receives an accurate diagnosis.¹⁸ The lack of uniformly effective treatment options and inequitable access to multidisciplinary care is contributing to the condition being unevenly managed, leading to high rates of treatment dissatisfaction and reliance on costly and often inadequate emergency care.^{22 23} Furthermore, the long-term use of antibiotics, which is currently considered a key part of HS treatment, may be contributing to the global threat of antimicrobial resistance²⁴ and thus risking the effectiveness of future treatments for all infections.²⁵

These ten priority recommendations have been developed by the authors of this report and, if implemented, they would address these barriers and ultimately improve the lives of people living with HS.

Policymakers and decision-makers must urgently take the following actions:

- 1. Plan, deliver and support patient-driven campaigns through social media, healthcare settings and patient organisations to raise public awareness of HS, to mitigate stigma and encourage people living with HS to seek care
- 2. Raise awareness around the signs and symptoms of HS among healthcare professionals to improve referral rates and speed of diagnosis. This should target primary care physicians, dermatologists, emergency care clinicians, gynaecologists, school nurses, sexual health clinicians, mental health professionals and paediatricians.
- 3. Ensure all clinical guidelines and care pathways incorporate formal shared decision-making processes to empower people living with HS to have more say around the treatments that are most appropriate for them, including innovative treatments, based on the latest evidence and personal preferences.
- 4. Ensure sustainable and equitable access to the most effective treatments for HS, both now and in the future.
- Introduce a treatment guide for people living with HS that provides clear information, including on side effects and safe self-treatment of HS symptoms, to ensure people are informed and supported in making decisions over their own treatment and care.
- 6. Ensure centres delivering HS care have established antibiotic stewardship programmes that include guidance to healthcare professionals on choosing the correct antibiotics and monitoring their effectiveness, to encourage appropriate use of antibiotics and mitigate the risk of antimicrobial resistance.
- 7. Improve quality of and access to HS emergency care by delivering education programmes to healthcare professionals, including management in emergency care, as part of future updates to clinical guidelines, and by ringfencing some emergency dermatology appointments to guarantee access to urgent dermatological care.
- 8. Develop pathways that encourage multidisciplinary care involving dermatologists, surgeons, pain management specialists, wound care nurses and specialist mental health support, as well as care for common conditions that are associated with HS. This care should be either delivered within one centre or coordinated and easily accessible for people living with HS, and should leverage the use of secure online or telephone services where appropriate.
- 9. Expand government support for people struggling with HS-related employment challenges and costs, such as treatment and wound care.
- **10. Raise awareness of HS among employers** and encourage workplaces to invest in reasonable work adjustments and flexible working arrangements to accommodate the needs of people living with HS.

What is hidradenitis suppurativa?

What is hidradenitis suppurativa?

Hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) is a long-term and painful skin condition that can be debilitating. HS, also known as acne inversa, can cause significant physical challenges and lead to severe psychological distress for some people.^{5 21 26} It is an autoinflammatory condition that contributes to inflammation below the surface of the skin.^{27 28} It often starts in a person's late teenage years and is characterised by recurrent flare-ups of painful nodules, which can become abscesses that look like lumps or boils,^{2 3 29} and the formation of draining tunnels under the skin.⁴ These abscesses can rupture, resulting in a discharge that may have an unpleasant smell and stain clothing, and can cause scarring on the body, all of which can lead people to feel embarrassed or ashamed.⁵⁶³⁰ The draining tunnels associated with HS can connect between nodules and/or abscesses, producing blood and discharge.⁴ These nodules, abscesses and tunnels are typically located in areas of the body that are subject to skin-on-skin friction, such as the armpit, groin, genitals and buttocks, but can occur in other parts of the body too.^{4 21 26 31 32} In some cases, people may have HS as part of a range of syndromes that involves immune-related conditions such as arthritis and acne, which can further complicate the management of HS.³³ HS is a progressive condition³⁴ but early diagnosis and treatment may reduce the risk of the condition reaching a severe stage and potentially leading to irreversible damage to the skin and scarring.^{8 35-37}

HS is surprisingly common, being thought to affect around 1 in 100 people across the world, although this is likely an underestimation. Estimates of HS prevalence vary between countries, ranging from approximately 0.04% to 3.8% of the population,^{38 39} but global prevalence is believed to be 1%.¹ The exact prevalence of HS may be difficult to determine because it is often misdiagnosed as conditions such as ingrown hair, folliculitis or acne, so it is likely underdiagnosed.⁴⁰

Women are disproportionately affected by HS in Western countries, but this trend is reversed in East Asia. In Western countries such as Denmark and the Netherlands, the condition affects three times as many women as men;^{7 8} however, in Japan, South Korea and Taiwan it is two to three times more common among men than women.⁹⁻¹¹ The exact reasons for this difference are not known but may include differences in genetics, smoking rates and health-seeking behaviours.^{41 42}

The needs of people living with HS can be complex and require care from a range of specialists. Dermatologists play a central role in the management of HS, but the complex needs of people living with the condition mean they require care from a variety of healthcare professionals.^{18 31} Treatment for HS can involve a combination of medication and surgery.^{21 43} In addition, HS is associated with people having a range of other conditions such as depression, anxiety, diabetes, inflammatory bowel disease and axial spondyloarthritis (painful chronic arthritis that mainly affects joints in the spine),⁴⁴ meaning that HS often requires multidisciplinary care.^{9 17 31 45 46}

Unevenly managed HS can result in considerable societal costs through the loss of productivity and the frequent use of high-cost services. HS often affects people during their most productive years, which means people living with HS are more likely than the general population to miss days of work, be impaired at work and be unemployed.⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹ Additionally, high-cost care settings, such as the emergency department and inpatient care for surgery, are used more frequently by people living with HS.^{23 50} This combination of factors means that HS can lead to significant costs to economic and health systems. In Spain, for example, the cost of treating HS has been estimated to exceed €1 billion per year.¹⁶ In Germany, the estimated cost of HS-related loss of productivity alone is approximately €12.6 billion per year.⁴⁷

How does HS impact people's lives?

How does HS impact people's lives?

HS has one of the highest impacts on quality of life among all dermatological diseases. It can affect almost every part of a person's life, including their personal relationships, work and social life; this ultimately contributes to the condition being highly distressing and affecting mental wellbeing.^{3 47 51}

Pain has a major effect on people's lives

Pain is very common for people living with HS and drives many of the challenges related to the condition. Experienced by almost all people living with HS, pain is a major and debilitating symptom which has been described as relentless, extreme and sometimes unbearable.^{3 12 52 53} The high intensity and frequency of pain is a persistent burden and has a huge impact on the quality of life of people living with HS.^{52 54}

Mental health issues are common among people living with HS

HS has a significant impact on mental health, with many of the people affected experiencing depression and anxiety as a result of their physical symptoms. HS symptoms such as pain, scarring and the smell associated with the discharge can have a significant impact on people's mental health.^{15 17} An international systematic review that included data from 40,307 participants found that almost 17% of people living with HS have experienced depression (compared with 5% among the global adult population).^{55 56} These numbers were even higher in Canada, Germany, Mexico, Poland and Turkey, where studies have found depression to be experienced by approximately 39–54% of people living with HS.^{14 57-60}

People living with HS may be at a greater risk of suicide due to the distressing nature of their condition. In some cases, the mental health of people living with HS can deteriorate to the extent where they may consider suicide.^{3 61} A study in Denmark found people living with HS to be twice as likely to die by suicide as people without HS.⁶²

The unpredictability of HS can make people feel like they have lost control of their lives. It is difficult to predict when a flare-up of HS is going to occur.⁶³ The lack of control over when symptoms may appear can have a significant emotional impact.¹⁵ One person interviewed for this report said they felt their HS was controlling their life.⁶⁴



Annette's story

Annette, who is from Sweden, had her first symptoms when she was 16. She lived in various countries throughout her life before eventually receiving a diagnosis in Slovenia, 19 years later. In recent years, Annette's condition has deteriorated, causing her pain and making her feel more tired – sometimes preventing her from going out to meet friends. Living with this chronic pain has had a significant impact on her mental health. 'My mental health has been worse in the past 10 years because I've had more frequent flare-ups. I also have spondylitis in my back, which makes it harder for me to move. It's difficult to always live with chronic pain. When I was a student, I got this tension headache. And the first time I had it, I was just lying down with a wet towel over my face crying because it was so painful. But I had to learn to live with it.' **HS can also have an emotional impact on the person's loved ones and carers.** Feelings of worry, frustration and exhaustion are common among families, loved ones or carers of people living with HS.⁶⁵ In a 2020 Polish study, it was found that almost two thirds of partners of people living with HS reported that the condition contributed to their experiencing emotional distress.⁶⁵

Social life can be negatively affected by HS symptoms

The shame experienced by people living with HS can cause them to withdraw from social situations and become isolated, further impacting their mental wellbeing. People living with HS can feel embarrassed and self-conscious because of their symptoms.^{15 66} A study in Australia found that around four in five people living with HS had felt embarrassed by their scars and abscesses in the past six months.⁶⁷ A person

My social life dwindled completely. I shut everybody out and lost a lot of friends. I didn't want to go anywhere or do anything. I just felt like I wasn't fun to be around so pushed everybody away.

> CHEVONNE SMELLIE, HIDRADENITIS AND ME, CANADA

with HS interviewed for this report disclosed that not knowing other people living with HS made them feel even more isolated.⁶⁸

HS symptoms can cause self-consciousness, leading some people to avoid social situations. Abscesses may rupture and draining tunnels may leak, potentially leading to an unpleasant smell or clothes being stained.^{6 18} Not knowing when this might happen can make people avoid social situations entirely.⁶⁹ One person living with HS interviewed for this report revealed they used to sew sanitary towels into their shorts to mitigate the risk of a flare-up leaking.⁷⁰ Another individual said they have to avoid wearing certain clothes in case their abscesses or tunnels start leaking.⁶⁸

Pain and fatigue can prevent people from being able to take part in social activities, further contributing to feelings of isolation. Pain and fatigue are very common HS symptoms and can have a huge impact on people's ability to take part in social activities.¹⁸⁷¹ Some of the



people interviewed for this report who are living with HS said pain restricts them from being able to participate in activities like sports and dance.^{72 73} One person noted that they can sometimes feel too tired to socialise, making them feel more isolated.⁷²

Angela's story

Angela, who is from the UK, had her first symptoms when she was only 10 years old. She told no one at the time and dealt with it herself. With no information about HS, Angela thought her symptoms might have been cancer until her eventual diagnosis 11 years later. This had a huge and sustained impact on her mental health for most of her childhood. 'As a child, I didn't talk to anyone about it. I just used toilet paper wedged in my clothes. I'd had migraines from quite an early age and they worsened. But I used that as part of my cover story when I wasn't able to do things. I just assumed that lumps under the skin would be cancer and that it would kill me. I lived with that for 11 years, thinking that I would die. And I think some days, I would rather have died. And I was disappointed that it hadn't killed me yet. It had such a significant effect on my mental health – I was a depressed child.' **The social life of loved ones or carers may also be affected by HS.** The impact of HS on the person's social life may have a knock-on effect on partners or carers.^{65 74} These people may need to change plans or adjust daily activities to accommodate HS flare-ups, or may feel guilty for socialising if the person with HS cannot.^{65 74}

People living with HS often experience challenges around intimacy

Pain can make it difficult for people living with HS to be intimate, which can significantly impact their quality of life. A survey of people living with HS in Canada found that around nine in ten people reported a negative impact on intimacy,⁷¹ while people living with HS interviewed for this report revealed that the intensity of pain and location of symptoms can make intimate physical contact difficult.^{70 73} Intimacy is an important part of life and the challenges faced by people living with HS in this regard have a huge effect on their quality of life.⁷⁵

People living with HS may feel self-conscious about their bodies, leading to distress around intimacy and concerns around finding a partner. HS can make people feel negatively about their bodies, reducing self-confidence.^{76 77} Many people report concerns that their HS will affect their chances of having a relationship.⁷⁸

Women living with HS may encounter unique challenges related to pregnancy and breastfeeding. The role of hormones in HS is not yet fully understood;⁷⁹ however, the link between pregnancy and HS disease course⁸⁰ suggests some association. Pregnancy can have a variable impact on women's HS symptoms; approximately a quarter of women experience symptom improvement during pregnancy, while around one in five women experience symptoms worsening.⁸⁰ In addition, one systematic review found that more than half of women living with HS experienced a flare-up after childbirth.⁸⁰ While HS symptoms located on the breast do not usually affect a baby's ability to feed,⁸¹ they may lead to discomfort for the woman.

People living with HS may be at greater risk of intimate partner violence. A study in Canada found that having HS can increase the likelihood of being subjected to violence by a partner when compared with the same risk for people with acne.⁸² Although the reasons for this are not clear, it is in line with other studies that indicate women with a disability are at higher risk of experiencing partner violence than women without a disability.⁸³



Silvia's story

Silvia, from Spain, had her first symptoms when she was 13. As her HS became more severe, she became less able to move and was eventually unable to leave the house. This led to her losing friends, stopping work and ultimately becoming extremely isolated. 'When I had to stop going out because I couldn't move, my friends disappeared. I didn't have any friends anymore. They didn't care that I couldn't go out or that I couldn't move. They simply stopped being around. Socially, if you're not visible, if people don't know what your condition is, people aren't going to understand it. And if they don't understand it, they end up leaving you to one side and you end up being alone.'

Working and studying can be difficult for people living with HS

HS symptoms can lead to people struggling with their studies, missing work or working when they are not well enough. Symptoms of HS can force people to take many days or even months off work.¹⁴ People interviewed for this report said flare-ups, pain and surgical treatments led to work absences.^{64 70} One study in Germany found that employees living with HS took 32.5 sick days per year vs. the average German employee who missed 10.6–10.8 days per year.⁴⁷ On the other hand, people may still go to work despite being impaired by their symptoms.^{47 48} Some of the interviewees living with HS said they experienced interruptions to their studies as a result of their symptoms, which flared up during periods of high stress, for instance, while preparing for and taking exams.^{68 84}

I missed a lot of days at school; I looked back at school reports and there was barely a term where I'd done a full week.

> ANGELA GIBBONS, PATIENT REPRESENTATIVE, UK

HS can lead to people losing their jobs or prevent them from ever being able to work. Unemployment is between two and six times higher among people living with HS than the general population.^{47 48} One person living with HS interviewed for this report commented that their symptoms have meant they have never been able to find employment that works for them.⁸⁵ For others, taking numerous sick days owing to their symptoms or treatment has resulted in them losing their job or being pressured to quit.^{64 73}

Challenges around work can have a significant impact on the mental health of people living with HS. Being able to work can be an important part of an individual's sense of self-worth. When HS restricts people's ability to work, this can have a significant negative impact on how they feel about themselves and can exacerbate their mental health issues,

according to some people living with HS who were interviewed for this report.^{73 85} Those interviewees whose ability to work is affected by their HS have expressed their desire to continue to work.^{70 73 85}



Bente's story

Bente, who is from Denmark, first found abscesses on her body as a teenager. They were painful and located in areas of her body that would make it difficult to do the things she loved, like cycling. She would wear long skirts instead of jeans because she was in pain. As she grew older and her HS worsened, the pain meant Bente struggled with intimacy and this had a serious impact on her quality of life. 'It was really hard to manage on an everyday basis. Sometimes I could hardly sit and I loved to ride my bicycle – and [the abscesses] were placed exactly where I had to sit. When my HS was at its worst, I had to talk to my husband about where he can touch me and how much he can touch me. I often refused sex because it was too bad. It was just so painful.'

Managing HS can result in personal financial costs

People living with HS may face a range of out-of-pocket costs for treatment and wound care. HS is a complex condition that requires a combination of medical treatment and long-term wound care.^{21 31 86} In some cases, depending on a particular health system or medical insurance provider, people may have to pay for certain medical treatments.⁷¹ People living with HS interviewed for this report said they regularly have to bear expenses for wound care supplies such as bandages, tape, creams and antiseptics.^{64 84 87} In Spain, these personal costs amount to an average of over €500 a year.¹⁶ Wound care is a daily part of managing HS, with one in six people needing five or more changes to their dressing a day, according to an international study (including people from Australia, Canada, Denmark, Sweden, the UK and the US, among others).⁸⁸ Tending to HS dressings can take over 30 minutes a day, potentially impacting people's ability to work.⁸⁸ Almost half of people report HS-related wound care affecting their financial wellbeing.⁸⁸

Many people living with HS also struggle with non-medical costs. These may include travelling to medical appointments, buying extra clothing and having higher utility bills as a consequence of taking more showers and frequent washing of bedding and clothing, according to people interviewed for this report.^{84 85} One person had spent significant amounts of money travelling abroad to receive a treatment which had been effective for them but was not available in their home country.⁸⁵

HS-related work issues can lead to additional financial strain. The impact of HS on someone's ability to work can lead to a reduction in or total loss of their income, which can cause further financial difficulty, according to people interviewed for this report.^{73 87}

The loved ones or carers of people living with HS also feel the financial impact of the condition. For partners of people living with HS, the most commonly reported impact on quality of life was the increase in expenditure driven by the condition, according to a study in Poland.⁶⁵ If someone living with HS is unable to work, they may be reliant on their loved ones or carers to financially support them and help them pay for HS-related costs.⁷⁴ This may be a significant source of distress for loved ones.



Marie-France's story

Marie-France is from France and has had HS from a young age. Although it was painful, she never wanted her symptoms to prevent her from doing the things she wanted to do, like dancing or paragliding, even if she suffered through the pain. The hardest point for her was when she lost her job; her HS had forced her to take too many sick days and she was deemed to not be fit for work. This had a serious effect on Marie-France's mental health and led to her needing psychological support and treatment. 'In France, when you are out of work for more than eight days, you have to go to a physician who must confirm you are fit to work but I was deemed to be "medically incapacitated" without being told. I asked my work if I could work from home but they said no. When you're sick and you have no work – that's a really depressing situation. I loved my work; it was really hard when I lost it.'

What does best-practice care for HS look like?

What does best-practice care for HS look like?

HS can be a frustrating condition to manage, both for people living with the condition and for the healthcare professionals treating it. While there is currently no cure for HS, its impact can be reduced if people receive best-practice care at every stage (*Figure 1*). This best-practice care HS pathway has been developed by the authors of this report.

Figure 1. Best-practice HS patient pathway

The process of HS diagnosis should ensure the person feels heard and that they are not blamed for their condition as this risks deterring them from seeking care in future. Diagnosis should include:

- **clinical assessment** based on the nature, frequency and location of symptoms^{21 31}
- screening for other conditions that are associated with HS, such as obesity, diabetes, depression and Crohn's disease, to better understand the person's complex needs⁸⁹
- establishing whether HS is part of a syndrome – such as pyoderma gangrenosum, acne and HS (PASH) – that may require additional care



- a quality-of-life assessment using the Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) to help establish severity (a flare may not be at its worst during a clinical assessment; therefore understanding the impact of HS separately from clinical presentation can provide a more accurate picture of severity)
- a healthcare professional with specialist HS knowledge, such as a dermatologist, to reduce the risk of misdiagnosis. Primary care physicians, surgeons, gynaecologists and emergency care clinicians with specialist HS knowledge may also be capable of diagnosing.

Different people may see different results with the same treatment.³⁵ People living with HS should be involved in decisions around treatment and informed of any potential side effects. Treatment may involve:

 medical treatments such as topical or systemic antibiotics,* biologic therapies, hormonal therapies, high-dosage oral zinc,

*Long-term and repeated use of antibiotics should be limited owing to risks of antimicrobial resistance.²⁴

corticosteroids, retinoids or immunosuppressors;^{19 90} pain may also be managed using medical treatments such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and opioids²¹

- **surgical interventions**,⁹¹ depending on the location and severity of the condition^{21 92}
- laser procedures.¹⁹

Ongoing care should involve management by a multidisciplinary team, led by a dermatologist or primary care physician, and should include:

REATMEN

- other specialists as required, such as a surgeon, psychologist, psychiatrist, wound care specialist, dermatology nurse, gastroenterologist, rheumatologist, gynaecologist, dietitian, cardiologist, endocrinologist, proctologist and pain management specialist^{19 20}
- up-to-date information on current treatments to allow people living with HS to make informed decisions on ongoing treatment



- rapid access to a dermatologist for acute flare-ups that require urgent care
- empowering people to report side effects and concerns from treatment
- clinically validated self-care to manage pain
- a standardised at-home 'rescue pack' that includes corticosteroids (to treat early flare-ups) and is accompanied by clear guidance on how to use them safely
- support from an HS patient organisation.

What are the policy and system barriers to best-practice care?

What are the policy and system barriers to best-practice care?

A series of barriers are preventing people living with HS from receiving the best possible care. Many people may not be receiving the care they need as a consequence of a lack of disease awareness,¹⁸ issues around treatment provision,⁷ inequitable availability of multidisciplinary care^{71 93} and antimicrobial resistance.²⁴ In addition, people living with HS who were interviewed for this report said they received insufficient government support.^{73 87} Some of the differences between countries that may affect the care and support people in these countries receive are outlined in the *Appendix*.

Embarrassment, stigma and fear can mean some people avoid seeking medical attention and their symptoms become worse

People living with HS can feel too embarrassed about their symptoms to seek medical care. People may be scared to talk to others about their HS over fears it may be perceived as contagious or a sexually transmitted disease.⁹⁴ People living with HS may also fear other people's reactions to revealing things such as scarring or unpleasant smell.¹⁵ This may contribute to people with HS not talking about their condition with loved ones or with a clinician, potentially leading to disease progression.^{15 32} In Saudi Arabia, for example, almost a quarter of young women living with HS said they had no intention to seek medical treatment for their symptoms,⁹⁵ potentially driven by their fear of stigma.



Chevonne's story

Chevonne, from Canada, was 15 when she first had symptoms. She did not tell anyone about them for a long time, but when the pain became unbearable she eventually went to the emergency department. This started a period where Chevonne would use walk-in clinics and emergency care as her main source of healthcare for her HS. During this time she experienced highly distressing interactions with doctors who lacked understanding of HS and basic compassion about her condition. This made Chevonne avoid seeking care until she was desperate. 'In my experience, they've made me feel dirty, or that I'm wasting their time. I had a nurse actually yelled at by her supervisor for spending too much time on my wounds. They told me to make sure I take a shower before I come in, which wasn't easy for me because I had just finished work and would go straight there. I've had a doctor tell me I smell – it would just cause me not to even want to go to the doctor or seek help. So there are long periods where I wouldn't go until I was desperate. They can just be so mean.' A lack of understanding and sensitivity around HS can lead to distressing healthcare experiences for some people. In their search for a diagnosis, people living with HS interviewed for this report have encountered healthcare professionals who have a limited understanding of HS, resulting in insensitive and unnecessary questions around hygiene, weight loss and sexual activity.^{64 70 84} This left these people feeling ashamed, embarrassed and distressed.^{64 84} In Turkey, HS is often referred to as 'dog nipple disease', including by healthcare professionals, further adding to the stigma; 80% of people in one study reported that this term made them feel stigmatised.⁹⁶

Reluctance to seek medical advice for early symptoms may further delay diagnosis and access to treatment, exacerbating the severity of HS. People interviewed for this report had poor experiences of healthcare which discouraged

'I think the best thing is to speak – if people don't know about an illness, how can they understand it?'

> MARIE-FRANCE BRU-DAPRÉS, AFRH, FRANCE

them from seeking medical attention in the future, contributing to longer delays in diagnosis.^{64 84} Longer delays are associated with the condition becoming more severe.⁴⁰

Public campaigns to raise awareness could help people living with HS and the wider community better understand the condition, encouraging people with symptoms to see their doctor and potentially reducing delays in diagnosis. Increasing awareness of HS among the public may help combat the stigma around the condition, making people more comfortable to seek medical assistance.⁹⁷ This is likely to improve the speed of diagnosis. People living with HS interviewed for this report spoke about the importance of being open about their HS to

allow others with the condition to not feel isolated and to improve understanding among the general public.^{70 73 85} Social media could be an effective method of raising awareness, considering the young age at which symptoms are first recognised and the high use of social media among this age group.⁹⁸

Yuki's story

Yuki's symptoms started when he was in high school in Japan. They made him feel very self-conscious and he thought carefully about what clothes to wear to make his symptoms less visible. When abscesses opened and stained his clothes, Yuki felt dirty and uncomfortable. Before his diagnosis, he felt very isolated because he knew nothing about HS and knew no one going through what he was having to deal with. 'When the symptoms were there, I didn't know what was causing them. I thought, "How much longer do I have to continue suffering from this?" I did some searches on the internet about symptoms such as pus under arm, but couldn't see anything that led me to HS. I couldn't find any peers, either – I felt very isolated.' Patient organisations can play a key role in disseminating information and providing a community for people living with HS to share experiences, particularly for demographics with lower digital literacy. However, these organisations are not yet active in all countries, and this may contribute not only to a lack of awareness of HS in those countries but also to people living with HS feeling more isolated – including one person interviewed for this report.⁶⁸

RECOMMENDATION FROM THE AUTHORS

Plan, deliver and support patient-driven campaigns through social media, healthcare settings and patient organisations to raise public awareness of HS, to mitigate stigma and encourage people living with HS to seek care.

Low awareness among healthcare professionals is contributing to delays in diagnosis, during which time the condition can become more severe

Limited awareness of HS among some healthcare professionals contributes to an average delay of 10 years before people receive an accurate diagnosis. Awareness of HS among many healthcare professionals is considered low,^{11 95} particularly among those that people living with HS are likely to come into regular contact with, including primary and emergency care clinicians, according to a healthcare professional interviewed for this project.⁹⁹ This contributes to HS being frequently misdiagnosed.³⁴ One study in Germany found that people with a late diagnosis of HS had received an average of five misdiagnoses, contributing to further delays.⁴⁰ Limited awareness among primary care clinicians may also lead to slow referral to dermatologists, who play a central role in HS diagnosis¹⁸ – although people living with HS interviewed for this report have even experienced low awareness among dermatologists.^{85 87} Globally, this results in people experiencing an average delay of just over 10 years from initial symptoms to diagnosis.¹⁸



Mona's story

Mona was given very little information about HS after she was diagnosed by an emergency care clinician; no one told her she needed to see a dermatologist. The healthcare professionals that she saw near her home after her diagnosis had little knowledge of HS or how to treat her. This forced Mona to look for a specialist further afield. She now receives care from a dermatologist who specialises in HS, but this person is based very far away from Mona's home. 'The doctors around me said that I needed to use some cream, but once I showed them my scars they realised it was much more serious. They knew that they needed to do more but didn't have any idea what to do. I searched online to find a specialist and found one in Berlin, which is 700km away. I have email contact with her, but mainly I see her when I think I need an operation.' **Delays in diagnosis prevent people from receiving treatment and their condition may advance during this time.** Long delays in diagnosis can mean the condition becomes more severe, with a greater impact on quality of life.^{67 100 101} A multinational study found that 70% of people living with HS had been diagnosed at a moderate-to-severe stage, which is less successfully managed than mild disease.³² Progression to this stage may be prevented by timely access to treatment as a result of an earlier diagnosis.^{8 38}

Delayed diagnosis may contribute to higher costs for the health system. The majority of people living with HS visited a healthcare professional more than five times before receiving a formal diagnosis,¹⁸ while a study in Spain found that people visited an average of around 15 healthcare professionals from a range of specialties before getting a diagnosis.¹⁶ This indicates the frequent use of healthcare resources during the pre-diagnostic period. Furthermore, delayed HS diagnosis is also associated with people having more surgical procedures, which are cost-intensive and can be complicated by infection.^{23 40 43}

Educational programmes targeted at healthcare professionals may improve the speed of HS diagnosis. In order to reduce delays in diagnosis, understanding of HS is needed among healthcare professionals. This is particularly important for those who encounter people living with HS, such as dermatologists, primary care physicians and emergency care clinicians.^{16 67 98} A healthcare professional interviewed for this report also suggested awareness should be raised among gynaecologists.¹⁰² Understanding could be improved among healthcare professionals through greater representation of HS in medical education.¹⁰³

RECOMMENDATION FROM THE AUTHORS

Raise awareness of the signs and symptoms of HS among healthcare professionals to improve referral rates and speed of diagnosis. This should target primary care physicians, dermatologists, emergency care clinicians, gynaecologists, school nurses, sexual health clinicians, mental health professionals and paediatricians.



Susanne's story

Susanne, from the Netherlands, was 13 when she first developed HS symptoms on her shoulder, an uncommon place for HS symptoms. Gradually, the inflammation spread across her back to her groin, armpit and face. She was referred to a dermatologist but was wrongly diagnosed with acne. Susanne had serious side effects from the treatment she was put on and therefore lost trust in dermatologists. Ultimately, Susanne received her HS diagnosis from another dermatologist, 19 years after her first symptoms. 'The first dermatologist I was sent to told me it wasn't HS because it was on my back, and said it was acne. They gave me treatment which made me really depressed. It dried out my skin and would make my lips bleed when I smiled. My hair was falling out; it was horrible. My parents talked me out of using the treatment and we no longer trusted the dermatologist. I only went back to a dermatologist when I was 18. I went to the "best dermatologist in Amsterdam", who also said it wasn't HS because it was on my back and tried to put me back on the same treatment that had given me those nasty side effects. She didn't treat me with a lot of respect, and I chose not to see her again. After that, I didn't see a dermatologist for a long time.'

People do not always have prompt and equitable access to the most appropriate treatment and so continue to suffer with their symptoms

No treatment options are uniformly effective for HS and many cause side effects among some people, leading to low treatment satisfaction and a need to try many treatments to find one that works. People living with HS receive a range of

I've tried anything and everything. Either you tried it or you stayed as you were. And I wasn't very well. So, I tried everything.

> SILVIA LOBO BENITO, ASENDHI, SPAIN

medical and surgical treatments, but none of these deliver sustained improvements in symptoms for everyone.⁷ In addition, people interviewed reported a number of undesirable side effects from current and previous treatments, including fevers, infection, depression and issues with gut health.^{22 64 70 84 85} In one global study (carried out by centres in Australia, Belgium, Canada, China, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Israel, Norway, Poland, Qatar, Spain, the UK and the US), almost half of people living with HS were either dissatisfied or very dissatisfied with their current treatment, with poor effectiveness and side effects cited as the most common reasons for dissatisfaction.²² A large national study in Greece also found that only 20% of people reported improvements in their symptoms after receiving initial treatment.¹⁰⁴ This means that people may

have to try many different treatments, sometimes more than once, in their search for one that is effective for them, according to a person interviewed for this project.⁸⁴ The Treatment of Hidradenitis Suppurativa Evaluation Study (THESEUS) is a large, multicentre study being conducted in the UK to understand how HS treatments are currently used;¹⁰⁵ the results from studies like this may facilitate improvements in HS treatment decisions.

The limited involvement of people living with HS in decisions around their treatment may exacerbate dissatisfaction, as people may remain uninformed about different treatment options, risks and benefits. People living with HS

I have absolutely not felt involved in treatment decisions. For a long time, I was just given treatment without explanation.

> MARIE-FRANCE BRU-DAPRÉS, AFRH, FRANCE

interviewed for this report have felt largely excluded from decisions around the treatments they have received, with some reporting they have had no choice whatsoever in the treatment they have been provided with.^{73 84 85} One interviewee living with HS in Japan was unhappy with their doctor for treating them with surgery, which left them with scarring, without having adequately discussed other treatment options with them.⁶⁸ This procedure may not have taken place if a formal shared decision-making process had been carried out, involving an informed discussion of the advantages and disadvantages of treatment, similar to the process recommended in the EuroGuiDerm Guideline on the systemic treatment of Psoriasis vulgaris.¹⁰⁶ A greater focus on involving people living with HS in decisions around their treatment could improve their knowledge, satisfaction with care and feelings of empowerment. Facilitating shared decision-making by providing people with sufficient information on treatment and potential side effects, for example through the use of patient decision aids, can significantly increase patient knowledge of HS.¹⁰⁷ A study on shared decision-making for people with psoriasis in Italy found that people with better knowledge of the condition were more likely to be satisfied with their care.¹⁰⁸ This suggests that shared decision-making for other chronic dermatological conditions, such as HS, could boost satisfaction among people living with the condition. While the North American clinical management guideline for HS includes patient preference in pain management decisions,⁴³ most are limited in this aspect.^{5 21 31 61 109}

Early use of innovative treatments may reduce the chance of HS progressing to a more severe stage. The early use of biologics may halt HS progression.¹¹⁰ This may reduce the risk of excessive scarring¹¹⁰ and result in reduced healthcare costs.¹¹¹

Many people living with HS rely on managing their condition through selftreatment, which can present risks. In the absence of access to effective treatments, many people feel the need to self-treat their symptoms, primarily to manage pain.¹¹² A study of people living with HS in Denmark found that approximately four in five people were self-treating symptoms, with almost half of these using needles or knives to cut abscesses open.¹¹² Self-treatment using these techniques can be dangerous, placing people at risk of infection and even death.¹¹³

People living with HS may benefit from being provided with information on how to safely self-treat symptoms such as pain. People are likely to continue to self-treat symptoms if their treatment is not yielding sustained improvements in their condition. Those living with HS could benefit from receiving information from their doctor that encourages them to avoid methods that may be unsafe, and a list of techniques that could support them in managing their symptoms safely. People interviewed for this report have used ice packs or hot compresses to reduce pain.^{84 85}

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE AUTHORS

Ensure all clinical guidelines and care pathways incorporate formal shared decision-making processes to empower people living with HS to have more say around the treatments that are most appropriate for them, including innovative treatments, based on the latest evidence and personal preferences.

Ensure sustainable and equitable access to the most effective treatments for HS, both now and in the future.

Introduce a treatment guide for people living with HS which provides clear information, including on side effects and safe self-treatment of HS symptoms, to ensure people are informed and supported in making decisions about their own treatment and care.

Long-term use of antibiotics threatens their effectiveness by increasing the risk of resistance

Treatment for HS often involves the long-term use of antibiotics, but this may be contributing to antimicrobial resistance and pharmaceuticals in the environment, which has generated concerns regarding the long-term sustainability of the treatment. Antimicrobial resistance is considered by the World Health Organization to be one of the top ten global public health threats facing humanity, with the overuse or misuse of antibiotics identified as a primary driver of this phenomenon.¹¹⁴ Antibiotics are commonly used to treat HS, but it has been found that the condition is already partially resistant to many of the antibiotics used.⁹⁰ This has raised concerns around their routine use for HS treatment, as it may be contributing to the major and urgent problem of antimicrobial resistance.²⁴ Recent evidence also suggests that residue of antibiotics from the treatment of humans has been found in water and soil, which may be playing a role in the acceleration of antimicrobial resistance.¹¹⁵

Antimicrobial resistance can have serious implications for future HS care and wider society. Antibiotics are the most frequently used treatment for HS,^{71 93} but antimicrobial resistance may threaten their long-term utility.²⁵ The impact of antimicrobial resistance reaches much wider than HS, leading to increases in death, disability and the overall cost of healthcare.¹¹⁴ This suggests that extra caution should be given to the prescribing of antibiotics for HS.

Antibiotic stewardship programmes, supported by further research to measure the impact of antibiotics, may help clinicians involved in HS care to minimise the risk of antimicrobial resistance. Appropriate use of antibiotics may be achieved through the roll-out of antibiotic stewardship programmes in centres that are delivering HS care, according to an expert interviewed for this report.¹¹⁶ These should focus on helping prescribing clinicians seek to improve outcomes for people living with HS while reducing the risk of antimicrobial resistance.¹¹⁶ According to a person interviewed for this project, more research is needed to establish which antibiotics are the most effective for each person.⁸⁴ Having a better understanding of this could reduce the need for people with HS to try multiple long-term courses of antibiotics that may be ineffective for them.⁸⁴ Adopting a 'review and revise' approach alongside this, which encourages the ongoing evaluation of treatment by prescribers, is crucial to reduce the unnecessary continuation of antibiotic therapy.¹¹⁷ This could reduce the risk of antimicrobial resistance and allow people to access more effective treatment faster.¹¹⁷

RECOMMENDATION FROM THE AUTHORS

Ensure centres delivering HS care have established antibiotic stewardship programmes which include guidance for healthcare professionals on choosing the correct antibiotics and monitoring their effectiveness, to encourage appropriate use of antibiotics and mitigate the risk of antimicrobial resistance.

Inadequate access to best-practice, multidisciplinary care is leading to poor management of HS

HS is a complex condition that requires multidisciplinary care, but this appears to be rarely available, placing the burden on people living with HS to coordinate parts of their own care. Guidelines in Europe, North America, Brazil and the UK

We don't have multidisciplinary care. You have to go from one to another and you have to be referred across – each time you have to convince someone that "I need this". That's really difficult.

BENTE VILLUMSEN, PATIENTFORENINGEN HS DANMARK, DENMARK recommend the management of HS through a multidisciplinary approach – including care from dermatology, surgery, wound care, pain management and psychology – acknowledging the complex physical and psychological needs of people living with the condition.^{21 43 61 109} However, in some countries this is not widely available in practice.^{71 93} In the UK, for example, primary care physicians reported referring only 3% of people living with HS to a specialised multidisciplinary service,⁹³ while in Canada, fewer than one in five people living with HS had received psychological support for their condition, suggesting a lack of availability of holistic care.⁷¹ In the United Arab Emirates, although some centres offer multidisciplinary care, it is acknowledged that communication between different specialties is often disjointed.¹¹⁸ In Italy, multidisciplinary care is available through dedicated treatment centres,⁹⁸ but the scarcity of these means that access is inequitable, according to a healthcare professional interviewed for this report.¹⁰²

Poorly managed HS contributes to people relying on emergency care, which is costly and often considered to be of a low standard in providing HS-specific care. Ineffective management of HS and suboptimal access to dermatologists may result

Ve been to the emergency department more times than I can count. In the beginning, it was probably every

month or two.

CHEVONNE SMELLIE, HIDRADENITIS AND ME, CANADA in greater use of more costly emergency services.^{18 119} Pain management, in particular, can be overlooked,³ with one study finding that 90% of people wanted more counselling on how to manage their pain.⁵² Severe pain, draining abscesses and concern over infection may lead people living with HS to seek emergency care.¹²⁰ According to people living with HS interviewed for this report, the care received through emergency services is inadequate.^{70 87} In addition, the experience of emergency care can be time-intensive and distressing,⁸⁷ with one person raising concerns about a loss of privacy in an emergency setting.⁸⁴ People living with HS can feel very self-conscious about their condition and may not want their diagnosis to be inadvertently shared in a busy emergency ward.⁸⁴ The management of HS in an emergency setting is not currently included in Brazilian, Canadian, European,

North American and UK clinical guidelines, which may hamper the ability of healthcare professionals in these settings to provide high-quality urgent care.^{21 31 43 61 109}

Educating emergency clinicians on the appropriate treatment for HS could lead to improvements in outcomes from urgent care. It has been reported by a person interviewed for this project that emergency care clinicians who have limited knowledge of HS may choose inappropriate treatments that may be ineffective or unnecessarily invasive.⁸⁴ Improving the understanding of HS among emergency care clinicians is likely to raise the quality of urgent care for the condition. A dermatologist interviewed for this report said their centre provides people with an information card that includes details around what HS is and the most appropriate care for that person, in the event that the person has to go to the emergency department.¹²¹ This can improve access to adequate urgent care for people living with HS.

All dermatology departments should seek to provide some emergency

appointments for people living with HS. Improved access to urgent dermatological care could limit the need for people to visit an emergency department.¹⁸ According to a dermatologist in Canada, this is already available in some centres and people are able to receive an urgent appointment within one or two days if they are having a flare-up.¹²¹ People living with HS could benefit from receiving this service in all centres.

Centres providing care for HS should aim to guarantee access to the specialist care needed by people living with HS. Care provided should involve a multidisciplinary approach that includes access to dermatologists, surgeons, pain management specialists, wound care nurses and mental health professionals.^{19 20} HS centres should also screen for common HS comorbidities, including gastrointestinal, cardiovascular and rheumatological conditions.¹⁰⁹ An HS expert interviewed for this report highlighted the need for virtual psychological counselling to improve access to holistic care.¹²¹ Facilitating access to this range of services would provide material improvements to HS care for people around the world.

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE AUTHORS

Improve quality of and access to HS emergency care by delivering education programmes to healthcare professionals, including management in emergency care, as part of future updates to clinical guidelines, and by ringfencing some emergency dermatology appointments to guarantee access to urgent dermatological care.

Develop pathways which encourage multidisciplinary care that involves dermatologists, surgeons, pain management specialists, wound care nurses and specialist mental health support, as well as care for common conditions that are associated with HS. This care should be either delivered within one centre or coordinated and easily accessible for people living with HS and should leverage the use of secure online or telephone services where appropriate.

Government support for people living with HS who cannot work is largely insufficient, leaving some people in financial distress

People living with HS may need to rely on government support if their condition means they are not able to work, but in some countries this may not be enough to live on. Some of the people living with HS interviewed for this report have relied

What they give you is called a non-contributory pension. And it's a tiny amount.

> SILVIA LOBO BENITO, ASENDHI, SPAIN

on government financial support and comment that this is often inadequate.^{73 85 87} Disability support for people who are temporarily or permanently unemployed varies between countries and may depend on how much the person has worked in the months and years before.^{122 123} According to a patient representative interviewed for this report, it may also be hard to convince authorities that someone with HS has a disability, representing an additional barrier to accessing government support.⁷⁰

Insufficient government support can lead to significant financial distress. Employment issues can be emotionally distressing, but this can be compounded by insufficient government support that fails to provide an adequate safety net for people

living with HS, who may face challenges being able to work, according to a person interviewed for this report.⁷³ This may result in those people becoming dependent on loved ones and carers to provide financial support.⁷⁴ For the loved ones and carers of people living with HS who are unable to work and require regular payments for treatment or wound care, this may have a significant financial impact.⁷⁴ For people without loved ones to rely on, financial issues may be particularly challenging.

People living with HS require more support from national governments to help them through financial and employment challenges. Investment in reasonable adjustments at work that are sensitive to the needs of people living with HS, such as when they need to manage symptoms during the work day, would be beneficial.¹²⁴ More flexible working arrangement policies could accommodate people needing to attend medical appointments.¹²⁴ In addition, national governments should consider expanding financial support for people living with HS, to make it easier to access sufficient disability-induced unemployment benefit and financial support for HS-related costs. This could mitigate some of the financial and employment challenges faced by people living with HS.

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE AUTHORS

Expand government support for people struggling with HS-related employment challenges and costs, such as treatment and wound care.

Raise awareness of HS among employers and encourage workplaces to invest in reasonable work adjustments and flexible working arrangements to accommodate the needs of people living with HS.

Call to action and recommendations

Call to action and recommendations

We call on policymakers to recognise the devastating impact of HS and act now to alleviate its burden on the people living with the condition.

HS can be an extremely painful and debilitating condition with wide-reaching impact across some of the most fundamental aspects of a person's life. Symptoms like pain, scarring and unpleasant smell can affect people's ability to socialise, work and have relationships.^{15 18 47 71} This means that people living with HS often struggle with mental health issues and low quality of life.^{15 17 125}

A range of policy and system barriers are preventing people living with HS from accessing the best possible care. A lack of awareness among healthcare professionals is leading to long delays in the condition being diagnosed.^{11 18 32} This is exacerbated by limited understanding of HS among the general population, which can make people feel embarrassed about their condition and avoid seeking medical attention.^{15 32} Once diagnosed, the treatment people receive is often inadequate⁷ and rarely are they able to access the best-practice, multidisciplinary care that HS can require.^{71 93} The reliance on long-term use of antibiotics may also be contributing to the wider global issue of antimicrobial resistance,²⁴ further limiting treatment options. In addition, for those struggling with the financial impact of HS, insufficient government support may mean they are not receiving the help they need, according to people interviewed for this report.^{73 85 87} To address these barriers, the authors of this report urge policymakers and decision-makers to take the following actions:

- 1. Plan, deliver and support patient-driven campaigns through social media, healthcare settings and patient organisations to raise public awareness of HS, to mitigate stigma and encourage people living with HS to seek care.
- 2. Raise awareness around the signs and symptoms of HS among healthcare professionals to improve referral rates and speed of diagnosis. This should target primary care physicians, dermatologists, emergency care clinicians, gynaecologists, school nurses, sexual health clinicians, mental health professionals and paediatricians.
- 3. Ensure all clinical guidelines and care pathways incorporate formal shared decision-making processes to empower people living with HS to have more say around the treatments that are most appropriate for them, including innovative treatments, based on the latest evidence and personal preferences.
- 4. Ensure sustainable and equitable access to the most effective treatments for HS, both now and in the future.
- 5. Introduce a treatment guide for people living with HS that provides clear information, including on side effects and safe self-treatment of HS symptoms, to ensure people are informed and supported in making decisions over their own treatment and care.
- 6. Ensure centres delivering HS care have established antibiotic stewardship programmes that include guidance to healthcare professionals on choosing the correct antibiotics and monitoring their effectiveness, to encourage appropriate use of antibiotics and mitigate the risk of antimicrobial resistance.
- 7. Improve quality of and access to HS emergency care by delivering education programmes to healthcare professionals, including management in emergency care, as part of future updates to clinical guidelines, and by ringfencing some emergency dermatology appointments to guarantee access to urgent dermatological care.
- 8. Develop pathways that encourage multidisciplinary care involving dermatologists, surgeons, pain management specialists, wound care nurses and specialist mental health support, as well as care for common conditions that are associated with HS. This care should be either delivered within one centre or coordinated and easily accessible for people living with HS, and should leverage the use of secure online or telephone services where appropriate.
- 9. Expand government support for people struggling with HS-related employment challenges and costs, such as treatment and wound care.
- **10.** Raise awareness of HS among employers and encourage workplaces to invest in reasonable work adjustments and flexible working arrangements to accommodate the needs of people living with HS.

Appendix. International comparison of key information related to HS

Country	Is there a national clinical guideline for HS?	ls there an HS-specific patient organisation?	Are there specialist HS treatment centres?
💓 Canada	Yes ³¹	Yes ^{126 127}	Yes ^{121*}
Denmark	Yes ¹²⁸	Yes ¹²⁹	Yes ¹³⁰
France	Yes ¹³¹	Yes ¹³²⁻¹³⁴	No information found
Germany	Yes ¹³⁵	No	Yes ²³
Italy	No [†]	Yes ¹³⁶	Yes ⁹⁸
Japan	Yes ^{137‡}	No	No information found
The Netherlands	Yes ¹³⁸	Yes ¹³⁹	Yes ¹⁴⁰
Spain	No	Yes ¹⁴¹	Yes ¹⁴²
Sweden	No	Yes ^{143 144}	No information found
🕀 ИК	Yes ¹⁰⁹	No	Yes ¹⁴⁵

Information collected in this table is correct as of February 2024.

* These are not formally accredited.

 \dagger Although some regional and treatment-specific guidelines $\mathsf{exist}^{\mathsf{146}}$

‡ These are based on European guidelines, despite the fact that evidence suggests that HS presents differently in Japan and European countries.

References

- Garg A, Naik HB, Alavi A, et al. 2023. Real-World Findings on the Characteristics and Treatment Exposures of Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa from US Claims Data. *Dermatol Ther* (Heidelb) 13(2): 581-94
- Vinkel C, Thomsen SF. 2018. Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Causes, Features, and Current Treatments. J Clin Aesthet Dermatol 11(10): 17-23
- Vekic DA, Cains GD. 2017. Hidradenitis suppurativa Management, comorbidities and monitoring. Aust J Gen Pract 46(8): 584-88
- Mayo Clinic. Hidradenitis suppurativa. Available from: https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/ hidradenitis-suppurativa/symptoms-causes/syc-20352306 [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Gulliver W, Zouboulis CC, Prens E, et al. 2016. Evidence-based approach to the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa/acne inversa, based on the European guidelines for hidradenitis suppurativa. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 17(3): 343-51
- 6. Ingram JR. 2016. Hidradenitis suppurativa: an update. *Clin Med* 16(1): 70-3
- Theut Riis P, Lindsø Andersen P, Jemec GB. 2018. Arguments for a national questionnaire-based screening for hidradenitis suppurativa in Denmark. Acta Dermatovenerol APA 27(3): 115-20
- Prens LM, Bouwman K, Troelstra LD, et al. 2022. New insights in hidradenitis suppurativa from a populationbased Dutch cohort: prevalence, smoking behaviour, socioeconomic status and comorbidities. Br J Dermatol 186(5): 814-22
- Lee JW, Heo YW, Lee JH, et al. 2023. Epidemiology and comorbidity of hidradenitis suppurativa in Korea for 17 years: A nationwide population-based cohort study. J Dermatol: 10.1111/1346-8138.16747
- Chu C, Li W, Lin S, et al. 2021. The influence of gender and smoking on hidradenitis suppurativa: A retrospective study of 161 patients in Taiwan. Dermatologica Sinica 39(3): 125-31
- Hayama K, Fujita H, Hashimoto T, et al. 2020. Questionnaire-based epidemiological study of hidradenitis suppurativa in Japan revealing characteristics different from those in Western countries. J Dermatol 47(7): 743-48
- Matusiak Ł, Szczęch J, Kaaz K, et al. 2018. Clinical Characteristics of Pruritus and Pain in Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa. Acta Derm Venereol 98(2): 191-94
- Kofler L, Schweinzer K, Heister M, et al. 2018. Surgical treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa: an analysis of postoperative outcome, cosmetic results and quality of life in 255 patients. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 32(9): 1570-74
- Akoglu G, Yildiz I, Karaismailoğlu E, et al. 2021. Disease severity and poor mental health are the main predictors of stigmatization in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. *Dermatol Ther*: 10.1111/ dth.14910
- Esmann S, Jemec GB. 2011. Psychosocial impact of hidradenitis suppurativa: a qualitative study. Acta Derm Venereol 91(3): 328-32
- Sociedad Española de Medicina de la Adolescencia. Strategic health initiative to determine the standard of care for patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. Available from: https://www.adolescenciasema. org/ficheros/HERCULES%20Informe/Informe%20 Hercules%20ENG%205-06-17.pdf [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Misitzis A, Katoulis A. 2021. Assessing Psychological Interventions for Hidradenitis Suppurativa as a First Step Toward Patient-Centered Practice. *Cutis* 107(3): 123-24

- Garg A, Neuren E, Cha D, et al. 2020. Evaluating patients' unmet needs in hidradenitis suppurativa: Results from the Global Survey Of Impact and Healthcare Needs (VOICE) Project. J Am Acad Dermatol 82(2): 366-76
- Chiricozzi A, Micali G, Veraldi S. 2019. The patient journey: a voyage from diagnosis to hidradenitis suppurativa multidisciplinary unit. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 33 Suppl 6: 15-20
- Patel ZS, Hoffman LK, Buse DC, et al. 2017. Pain, Psychological Comorbidities, Disability, and Impaired Quality of Life in Hidradenitis Suppurativa [corrected]. Curr Pain Headache Rep: 10.1007/s11916-017-0647-3
- Zouboulis CC, Desai N, Emtestam L, et al. 2015. European S1 guideline for the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa/acne inversa. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 29(4): 619-44
- Midgette B, Strunk A, Akilov O, et al. 2022. Factors associated with treatment satisfaction in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa: results from the Global VOICE project. Br J Dermatol 187(6): 927-35
- Frings VG, Schöffski O, Goebeler M, et al. 2021. Economic analysis of the costs associated with Hidradenitis suppurativa at a German University Hospital. PLoS One: 10.1371/journal.pone.0255560
- Fischer AH, Haskin A, Okoye GA. 2017. Patterns of antimicrobial resistance in lesions of hidradenitis suppurativa. J Am Acad Dermatol 76(2): 309-13.e2
- World Health Organization. Antimicrobial resistance. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/antimicrobial-resistance</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Pescitelli L, Ricceri F, Prignano F. 2018. Hidradenitis suppurativa and associated diseases. G Ital Dermatol Venereol 153(3 Suppl 2): 8-17
- Zouboulis CC, Benhadou F, Byrd AS, et al. 2020. What causes hidradenitis suppurativa? — 15 years after. Exp Dermatol 29(12): 1154-70
- Rosi E, Fastame MT, Scandagli I, et al. 2021. Insights into the Pathogenesis of HS and Therapeutical Approaches. Biomedicines: 10.3390/ biomedicines9091168
- Naik HB, Paul M, Cohen SR, et al. 2019. Distribution of Self-reported Hidradenitis Suppurativa Age at Onset. JAMA Dermatol 155(8): 971-73
- Wang SC, Wang SC, Sibbald RG, et al. 2015. Hidradenitis Suppurativa: A Frequently Missed Diagnosis, Part 1: A Review of Pathogenesis, Associations, and Clinical Features. Adv Skin Wound Care 28(7): 325-32
- Johnston LA, Alhusayen R, Bourcier M, et al. 2022. Practical Guidelines for Managing Patients With Hidradenitis Suppurativa: An Update. J Cutan Med Surg 26(2_suppl): 2S-24S
- Ingram JR, Bettoli V, Espy JI, et al. 2022. Unmet clinical needs and burden of disease in hidradenitis suppurativa: real-world experience from EU5 and US. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 36(9): 1597-605
- Niv D, Ramirez JA, Fivenson DP. 2017. Pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and hidradenitis suppurativa (PASH) syndrome with recurrent vasculitis. JAAD Case Rep 3(1): 70-73
- Garg A, Naik HB, Kirby JS. 2023. A Practical Guide for Primary Care Providers on Timely Diagnosis and Comprehensive Care Strategies for Hidradenitis Suppurativa. Am J Med 136(1): 42-53
- Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundation. 2022. A Guide to Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Living with HS. Richmond Hill: Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundation

- Schneider-Burrus S, Tsaousi A, Barbus S, et al. 2021. Features Associated With Quality of Life Impairment in Hidradenitis Suppurativa Patients. Front Med: 10.3389/ fmed.2021.676241
- Ocker L, Abu Rached N, Seifert C, et al. 2022. Current Medical and Surgical Treatment of Hidradenitis Suppurativa-A Comprehensive Review. J Clin Med: 10.3390/jcm11237240
- Kirsten N, Petersen J, Hagenström K, et al. 2020. Epidemiology of hidradenitis suppurativa in Germany – an observational cohort study based on a multisource approach. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(1): 174-79
- Lachaine J, Miron A, Shear N, et al. 2016. The Prevalence And Incidence Of Hidradenitis Suppurativa In Canada: Results From A Population-Based Survey. Value Health: 10.1016/j.jval.2016.03.495
- Kokolakis G, Wolk K, Schneider-Burrus S, et al. 2020. Delayed Diagnosis of Hidradenitis Suppurativa and Its Effect on Patients and Healthcare System. *Dermatol* 236(5): 421-30
- Omine T, Miyagi T, Hayashi K, et al. 2020. Clinical characteristics of hidradenitis suppurativa patients in Okinawa, Japan: Differences between East Asia and Western countries. J Dermatol 47(8): 855-62
- Chandran NS, Lee JH, Kurokawa I. 2021. Hidradenitis suppurativa in South-East Asia and East Asia. Exp Dermatol 30 Suppl 1: 23-26
- Alikhan A, Sayed C, Alavi A, et al. 2019. North American clinical management guidelines for hidradenitis suppurativa: A publication from the United States and Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundations: Part II: Topical, intralesional, and systemic medical management. J Am Acad Dermatol 81(1): 91-101
- Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust. Axial Spondyloarthritis. Available from: <u>https://www.leedsth.nhs.uk/a-z-of-services/rheumatology/specialist-spondyloarthritis-service/axial-spondyloarthritis/</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Tzellos T, Zouboulis CC. 2022. Which hidradenitis suppurativa comorbidities should I take into account? Exp Dermatol 31(Suppl 1): 29-32
- Țarcă E, Cojocaru E, Caba B, et al. 2021. Multidisciplinary Management of Adolescents with Hidradenitis Suppurativa - Series of Cases and Literature Review. J Multidiscip Healthc 14: 2205-16
- Schneider-Burrus S, Kalus S, Fritz B, et al. 2023. The impact of hidradenitis suppurativa on professional life. Br J Dermatol 188(1): 122-30
- Yao Y, Jørgensen A-HR, Thomsen SF. 2020. Work productivity and activity impairment in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa: a cross-sectional study. Int J Dermatol 59(3): 333-40
- Dufour DN, Emtestam L, Jemec GB. 2014. Hidradenitis suppurativa: a common and burdensome, yet underrecognised, inflammatory skin disease. *Postgrad Med J* 90(1062): 216-21
- Shalom G, Babaev M, Freud T, et al. 2017. Demographic and health care service utilization by 4417 patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. J Am Acad Dermatol 77(6): 1047-52
- Alavi A, Farzanfar D, Lee RK, et al. 2018. The Contribution of Malodour in Quality of Life of Patients With Hidradenitis Suppurativa. J Cutan Med Surg 22(2): 166-74
- Johnston L, Dupuis E, Lam L, et al. 2023. Understanding Hurley Stage III Hidradenitis Suppurativa Patients' Experiences With Pain: A Cross-Sectional Analysis. J Cutan Med Surg: 10.1177/12034754231188452
- Howells L, Lancaster N, McPhee M, et al. 2021. Thematic synthesis of the experiences of people with hidradenitis suppurativa: a systematic review. Br J Dermatol 185(5): 921-34
- Jemec GB. 2017. Quality of life considerations and pain management in hidradenitis suppurativa. Semin Cutan Med Surg 36(2): 75-78

- Machado MO, Stergiopoulos V, Maes M, et al. 2019. Depression and Anxiety in Adults With Hidradenitis Suppurativa: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Dermatol 155(8): 939-45
- World Health Organization. Depressive disorder (depression). Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/depression</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Kurek A, Johanne Peters EM, Sabat R, et al. 2013. Depression is a frequent co-morbidity in patients with acne inversa. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 11(8): 743-49
- Rymaszewska JE, Krajewski PK, Szczęch J, et al. 2023. Depression and anxiety in hidradenitis suppurativa patients: a cross-sectional study among Polish patients. Postępy Dermatol Alergol 40(1): 35-39
- Huang CM, Kirchhof MG. 2021. Hidradenitis Suppurativa From a Patient Perspective Including Symptoms and Self-Treatment. J Cutan Med Surg 25(6): 591-97
- Vértigo Político. Diagnosis of Hidradenitis suppurativa takes up to eight years [translated]. Available from: https://www.vertigopolitico.com/todo-menos-politica/ bienestar/diagnostico-de-hidradenitis-supurativa-tomahasta-ocho-anos [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Magalhães RF, Rivitti-Machado MC, Duarte GV, et al. 2019. Consensus on the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa - Brazilian Society of Dermatology. An Bras Dermatol 94(2 Suppl 1): 7-19
- Thorlacius L, Cohen AD, Gislason GH, et al. 2018. Increased Suicide Risk in Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa. J Invest Dermatol 138(1): 52-57
- van der Zee HH, Longcore M, Geng Z, et al. 2020. Weekly adalimumab treatment decreased disease flare in hidradenitis suppurativa over 36 weeks: integrated results from the phase 3 PIONEER trials. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(5): 1050-56
- Smellie C. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 27/04/23
- Włodarek K, Głowaczewska A, Matusiak Ł, et al. 2020. Psychosocial burden of Hidradenitis Suppurativa patients' partners. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(8): 1822-27
- Ghassemi M. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 31/07/23
- Calao M, Wilson JL, Spelman L, et al. 2018. Hidradenitis Suppurativa (HS) prevalence, demographics and management pathways in Australia: A population-based cross-sectional study. PLoS One: 10.1371/journal.pone.0200683
- Kato Y. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 21/04/23
- American Academy of Dermatology Association. Hidradenitis Suppurativa: How to Cope When Depression Hits. Available from: <u>https://www.aad.org/public/diseases/a-z/hidradenitis-suppurativadepression</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Villumsen B. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 19/04/23
- 71. Canadian Skin Patient Alliance. 2020. Scarred for Life: 2020 Update. Nepean: Canadian Skin Patient Alliance
- Rosenberg A. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 17/04/23
- Bru-Daprés M-F. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 18/04/23
- HSDisease.com. Emotional Impact for Hidradenitis Suppurativa Caregivers. Available from: <u>https://</u> <u>hsdisease.com/living/caregiver-impact</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Cuenca-Barrales C, Montero-Vilchez T, Krajewski PK, et al. 2022. Sexual Dysfunction and Quality of Life in Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa and Their Partners. Int J Environ Res Public Health: 10.3390/ ijerph20010389

- Andersen PL, Nielsen RM, Sigsgaard V, et al. 2020. Body Image Quality of Life in Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa Compared with Other Dermatological Disorders. Acta Derm Venereol: 10.2340/00015555-3464
- Schneider-Burrus S, Jost A, Peters EMJ, et al. 2018. Association of Hidradenitis Suppurativa With Body Image. JAMA Dermatol 154(4): 447-51
- Cuenca-Barrales C, Molina-Leyva A. 2020. Sexuality in Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Beliefs, Behaviors and Needs. Int J Environ Res Public Health: 10.3390/ijerph17238808
- Abu Rached N, Gambichler T, Dietrich JW, et al. 2022. The Role of Hormones in Hidradenitis Suppurativa: A Systematic Review. Int J Mol Sci: 10.3390/ ijms232315250
- Seivright JR, Villa NM, Grogan T, et al. 2021. Impact of Pregnancy on Hidradenitis Suppurativa Disease Course: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Dermatol 238(2): 260-66
- Collier E, Shi VY, Parvataneni RK, et al. 2020. Special considerations for women with hidradenitis suppurativa. Int J Womens Dermatol 6(2): 85-88
- Sisic M, Tan J, Lafreniere KD. 2017. Hidradenitis Suppurativa, Intimate Partner Violence, and Sexual Assault. J Cutan Med Surg 21(5): 383-87
- Brownridge DA. 2006. Partner Violence Against Women With Disabilities: Prevalence, Risk, and Explanations. Violence Against Women 12(9): 805-22
- Gibbons A. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 15/06/23
- De Goeij S. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 14/06/23
- Moloney S. 2022. The challenges of wound management for hidradenitis suppurativa. Available from: https://www.britishjournalofnursing.com/content/ personal-perspective/the-challenges-of-woundmanagement-for-hidradenitis-suppurativa/ [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Lobo Benito S. 2023. Interview with Karolay Lorenty at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 17/04/23
- Moloney S, McGrath BM, Roshan D, et al. 2021. The Personal Impact of Daily Wound Care for Hidradenitis Suppurativa. Dermatol 238(4): 762-71
- Garg A, Malviya N, Strunk A, et al. 2022. Comorbidity screening in hidradenitis suppurativa: Evidencebased recommendations from the US and Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundations. J Am Acad Dermatol 86(5): 1092-101
- Hessam S, Sand M, Meier NM, et al. 2016. Combination of oral zinc gluconate and topical triclosan: An anti-inflammatory treatment modality for initial hidradenitis suppurativa. J Dermatol Sci 84(2): 197-202
- Bechara FG, Podda M, Prens EP, et al. 2021. Efficacy and Safety of Adalimumab in Conjunction With Surgery in Moderate to Severe Hidradenitis Suppurativa: The SHARPS Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Surg 156(11): 1001-09
- Scholl L, Schneider-Burrus S, Fritz B, et al. 2023. The impact of surgical interventions on the psychosocial well-being of patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 21(2): 131-39
- Collier F, Howes R, Rodrigues J, et al. 2021. Primary care management of hidradenitis suppurativa: a crosssectional survey of UK GPs. BJGP Open: 10.3399/ bjgpo.2021.0051
- Everyday Health. What Is Hidradenitis Suppurativa? Symptoms, Causes, Diagnosis, Treatment, and Prevention. Available from: <u>https://www. everydayhealth.com/hidradenitis-suppurativa/</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Shirah BH, Shirah HA. 2017. The Clinical Pattern of Axillary Hidradenitis Suppurativa among Saudi Arabians: Mode of Presentation and Treatment Challenges. J Cutan Aesthet Surg 10(2): 95-100

- Akoglu G, Esme P, Yildiz I. 2021. Patients With Hidradenitis Suppurativa Negatively Perceive Both Medical and Euphemistic Appellations of Their Disease: A Study From Turkey. *Dermatol Pract Concept*: 10.5826/dpc.1104a92
- British Dermatological Nursing Group. 2022. Optimising Hidradenitis Suppurativa Care: A Multiprofessional Consensus Statement. London: British Dermatological Nursing Group
- Bettoli V, Pasquinucci S, Caracciolo S, et al. 2016. The Hidradenitis suppurativa patient journey in Italy: current status, unmet needs and opportunities. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 30(11): 1965-70
- 99. Bechara F. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 13/06/23
- Saunte DM, Boer J, Stratigos A, et al. 2015. Diagnostic delay in hidradenitis suppurativa is a global problem. Br J Dermatol 173(6): 1546-9
- 101. Estrada-Aguilar L, Arenas-Guzmán R, García-Hidalgo L, et al. 2019. Consenso mexicano en el manejo clínico de la hidradenitis supurativa [Mexican consensus on the clinical management of hidradenitis suppurativa]. Medicina Interna de México 35(4): 564-84
- Prignano F. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 31/05/23
- 103. Joszt L. 2023. Dr Haley Naik: Improved Medical Education Can Help Reduce Diagnostic Delays of HS. Available from: <u>https://www.ajmc.com/view/dr-haley-naik-improved-medical-education-can-help-reducediagnostic-delays-of-hs</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 104. Liakou AI, Papadakis M, Tsantes AG, et al. 2022. Perception and Knowledge of Hidradenitis Suppurativa in Greece: A Cross-Sectional Study of 1301 Individuals. Indian J Dermatol: 10.4103/ijd.ijd_622_21
- 105. Bates J, Stanton H, Cannings-John R, et al. 2022. Treatment of Hidradenitis Suppurativa Evaluation Study (THESEUS): protocol for a prospective cohort study. BMJ Open: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-060815
- 106. Nast A, Smith C, Spuls PI, et al. 2020. EuroGuiDerm Guideline on the systemic treatment of Psoriasis vulgaris – Part 1: treatment and monitoring recommendations. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(11): 2461-98
- McLean D, McBride O, Samardzic T, et al. 2020. Impact of a hidradenitis suppurativa patient decision aid on treatment decision making: A randomized controlled trial. JAAD Int 1(2): 190-99
- Renzi C, Di Pietro C, Chinni LM, et al. 2006. Insufficient knowledge among psoriasis patients can represent a barrier to participation in decision-making. Acta Derm Venereol 86(6): 528-34
- 109. Ingram JR, Collier F, Brown D, et al. 2019. British Association of Dermatologists guidelines for the management of hidradenitis suppurativa (acne inversa) 2018. Br J Dermatol 180(5): 1009-17
- Ring HC, Yao Y, Maul J-T, et al. 2022. The road to biologics in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa: a nationwide drug utilization study. Br J Dermatol 187(4): 523-30
- 111. Tsentemeidou A, Sotiriou E, Ioannides D, et al. 2022. Hidradenitis suppurativa-related expenditure, a call for awareness: systematic review of literature. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 20(8): 1061-72
- 112. Ravn Jørgensen AH, Yao Y, Thomsen SF, et al. 2021. Métodos referidos por los pacientes para aliviar el dolor asociado a la hidradenitis supurativa. Actas Dermosifiliogr 112(2): 153-58
- HS Connect. Self Lancing: Why This Isn't a Good Idea. Available from: <u>https://www.hsconnect.org/post/self-lancing-why-this-isn-t-a-good-idea</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 114. World Health Organization. Antimicrobial resistance. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/antimicrobial-resistance</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]

- 115. European Parliament. 2019. European Parliament resolution of 17 September 2020 on a strategic approach to pharmaceuticals in the environment (2019/2816(RSP)). Available from: <u>https://www. europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2020-0226_EN.html</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 116. Rosi E. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 31/05/23
- 117. UK Health Security Agency. 2023. Start smart then focus: toolkit summary. London: Department of Health and Social Care
- 118. KPMG. 2016. Guiding principles in Hidradenitis Suppurativa (HS) care. London: KPMG
- Kirby JS, Miller JJ, Adams DR, et al. 2014. Health care utilization patterns and costs for patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. JAMA Dermatol 150(9): 937-44
- Okun MM, Flamm A, Werley EB, et al. 2022. Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Diagnosis and Management in the Emergency Department. J Emerg Med 63(5): 636-44
- 121. Poelman S. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 14/07/23
- 122. European Commission. Spain Permanent invalidity. Available from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catld=1129&langld=en&intPageld=4793</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 123. European Commission. Germany Disability benefits. Available from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catld=1111&langId=en&intPageId=4551</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- HSDisease.com. 2021. The Benefits of Remote and Contract Work for the Chronically III. Available from: <u>https://hsdisease.com/living/remote-work</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 125. Krajewski PK, Matusiak Ł, von Stebut E, et al. 2021. Quality-of-Life Impairment among Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa: A Cross-Sectional Study of 1795 Patients. Life (Basel): 10.3390/life11010034
- 126. Hidradenitis and Me. About us. Available from: https://hidradenitisandme.ca/about-us [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 127. HS Heroes. Who we are. Available from: https://hsheroes.ca/ [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 128. Saunte DM, Dufour DN, Kofoed K, et al. 2020. Guidelines vedr. behandling af hidrosadenitis suppurativa. Copenhagen: Dansk Dermatologisk Selskab
- 129. Patientforeningen HS Danmark. About us [translated]. Available from: <u>https://hidrosadenitis-dk.translate.</u> goog/home/om-os/? x tr sl=auto& x tr tl=en& x tr hl=en& x tr_pto=wapp [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 130. Patientforeningen HS Danmark. Youth with HS [translated]. Available from: <u>https://hidrosadenitis-dk.</u> <u>translate.goog/home/livet-med-hs/ung-med-hs/? x</u> <u>tr sl=auto& x tr tl=en& x tr hl=en& x tr pto=wapp</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]

- 131. Centre de Preuves en Dermatologie. 2019. Prise en charge de l'hidrosadenite suppuree. Paris: Société Française de Dermatologie
- L'Association Française pour la Recherche sur l'Hidrosadénite. All united to defeat Verneuil [translated]. Available from: <u>http://www.afrh.fr/</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Solidarite Verneuil. Who are we? [translated]. Available from: <u>https://www.solidarite-verneuil.org/page/271981-l-association</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 134. SpaVer22. Welcome [translated]. Available from: https://www.spaver22.org/ [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 135. Zouboulis CC, Bechara FG, Fritz K, et al. 2012. S1-Leitlinie zur Therapie der Hidradenitis suppurativa/ Acne inversa* (ICD-10 Ziffer: L73.2)[S1 guideline for the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa / acne inversa * (number ICD-10 L73.2)]. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 10 Suppl 5: S1-31
- 136. Passion People. Passion for people [translated]. Available from: <u>https://www.passionpeople.info/</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 137. Hayama K, Inoue R, Otsuki M, et al. 2020. 化膿性 汗腺炎診療の手引き 2020 [Hidradenitis suppurativa diagnosis guideline 2020]. Tokyo: Japanese Dermatological Association
- Federatie Medisch Specialisten. 2019. Hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) [translated]. Utrecht: Federatie Medisch Specialisten
- Hidradenitis Patiënten Vereniging. About us [translated]. Available from: <u>https://hidradenitis.nl/overons/</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 140. Hidradenitis Patiënten Vereniging. HiCare Dermatology [translated]. Available from: <u>https:// hidradenitis.nl/leven-met-hs/hicare-dermatologie/</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Asociación de Enfermos de Hidrosadenitis. Get to know us [translated]. Available from: <u>https://asendhi.org/conocenos/</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 142. Asociación de Enfermos de Hidrosadenitis. HS units or monographic consultations in Spain [translation]. Available from: <u>https://asendhi.org/unidades-dehs-o-consultas-monograficas-en-espana/</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- HS International Sweden. Home [translated]. Available from: <u>https://hsinternationalsweden.se/</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 144. HS-föreningen Sverige. Welcome [translated]. Available from: <u>https://www.hsforeningensverige.se/</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust. Clinics. Available from: <u>https://www.imperial.nhs.uk/our-services/dermatology/hidradenitis-suppurativa/clinics</u> [Accessed 09/02/24]
- 146. Prignano F, Pescitelli L, Giani I, et al. 2019. Tuscan consensus on the diagnosis and treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 33(S6): 21-24

© UCB Biopharma SRL, 2024. All rights reserved. Date of preparation: February 2024 GL-DA-2300298

Melson C, Tate J, Carswell O, et al. 2024. Call to action: improving the lives of people with hidradenitis suppurativa (HS). London: The Health Policy Partnership

